NHS Wales Joint Commissioning Committee & Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales

Dyfodol Programme

Weight Management & Mental Health A framework for action in Wales

March 2025







Public Ment Implementation Centre

About this report

This report was commissioned by the Welsh Government as part of the Dyfodol Programme.

The Joint, NHS Wales Joint Commissioning Committee & Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales Dyfodol Programme supports the enhancement of secondary care mental health services and delivery of optimal care for those people in Wales with serious and enduring mental illness.

The Dyfodol Programme enables the Welsh Government and national partners to acquire valuable insights in order to plan and commission effectively.

Authors of this report

Dr Peter Byrne	Joint Clinical and Strategic Director, Public Mental Health Implementation Centre				
Dr Joseph Davies	Lecturer in Applied Psychology, Cardiff Metropolitan University				
Dr Eliazar Luna	Research Fellow, National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health				
Dr Jean Strelitz	Senior Researcher, Public Mental Health Implementation Centre				
Ollie John	National Manager, Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales				
Shane Mills	Director of Commissioning Mental Health, Learning Disabilities & Vulnerable Groups, NHS Wales Joint Commissioning Committee				

Acknowledgements

Dr Ed Beveridge	Consultant Psychiatrist,
	RCPsych Presidential Lead for Physical Health
Dr Jo Howe	Research Associate,
	Aston Pharmacy School, Aston University
Prof Ian Maidment	Professor in Clinical Pharmacy at Aston University, and Chief Investigator for the NIHR RESOLVE study
Dr Emily Peckham	Senior Research Fellow,
-	School of Health Sciences, Bangor University
Joanna Popis	Project Manager,
	National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health
Dr Clare Taylor	Head of Quality Assurance and Business Development,
	National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health
Kate Burton	Deputy Director of Transformation and Commissioning
	NHS Wales Joint Commissioning Committee

List of abbreviations

ACE	adverse childhood experience				
AWWMP	All Wales Weight Management Pathway				
BMI	body mass index				
CVD	cardiovascular disease				
ИССМН	National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health				
SES	socioeconomic status				
SMI	severe mental illness				
SSB	sugar-sweetened beverage				

Definitions

Body mass index (BMI): Measure of body weight relative to height. It is calculated by dividing a person's weight in kilograms by the square of their height in metres (162).

Mental health condition: A wide range of conditions that affect an individual's emotional, psychological, and social wellbeing but do not necessarily meet the criteria for SMI. These conditions include common mental disorders such as anxiety and depression, which do not involve the level of impairment associated with a diagnosis of SMI.

Obesity: The World Health Organisation defines obesity as having a BMI greater than or equal to 30 kg/m2 (5).

Overweight: A condition characterised by excessive fat deposits. There are several ways to measure obesity. One of the most used, especially at population level, is according to BMI. The World Health Organisation defines overweight as having a BMI greater than or equal to 25 kg/m2 but lower than 30 kg/m2 (5).

Polypharmacy: taking five or more prescribed medicines.

Severe mental illness (SMI): Mental disorder that substantially interferes with one's life activities and ability to function (160). It is associated with the diagnosis of psychosis, schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder (161).

Executive Summary

Key Messages

Why weight gain is a concern for people with mental health conditions

Preventable physical health problems are the greatest threat to life for people with mental health conditions.

In Wales, obesity is one of the top three contributors to the loss of healthy years (1). Weight gain and obesity are major causes for lower life expectancy of 7–25 years for people with severe mental illnesses (SMI). This is because obesity is linked to many chronic illnesses including heart disease, diabetes and cancer, which cost upwards of £700 million to the NHS in Wales each year (2).

For people with mental health conditions, some medications can cause weight gain, which can affect their physical health and wellbeing. Also, having a mental health condition can make it difficult to maintain healthy behaviours like exercising and cooking balanced meals. Having a mental health condition can also make it difficult to keep consistent employment, leading to a vicious cycle in which poverty contributes to further weight gain because people are not able to afford nutritious food.

The broader environment impacts weight gain and the ability to lose weight, including food deserts (no available fresh food), the cost of living crisis, unhealthy food advertising and marketing, a takeaway culture that disguises health harms, and a lack of green and blue spaces in deprived areas, limiting access to opportunities for physical activity. The consequence of these factors is that it is common for people with mental health conditions to gain weight.

Medication review and behavioural support are important for healthy weight management

Health services and our communities can support people with mental health conditions to avoid weight gain and to keep a healthy weight. For people taking medications that may cause weight gain, this means paying special attention to any side effects and intervening early. Expert review by a mental health care provider will support changing a prescription where needed, or reducing the amount of a medication where weight gain is a concern.Monitoring for the return of symptoms (relapse) is part of this process.

People with mental health conditions should also receive physical health checks to identify problems early. Weight management programmes, when needed, can help build healthy behaviours.

Physical health checks will help to identify people experiencing weight gain – but what happens next is just as important. The NHS has reviewed many of its programmes and concluded: **"don't just screen, intervene".**

Tailored support and improved provision are critical

The greatest challenge to meeting the needs of people with mental health conditions relates to fragmented health services. A clear approach to delivery of care will improve the provision of physical health checks and medication reviews, which are critical to identifying problems early. This also requires a clearer picture of who is delivering which interventions, including input from dietitians.

Currently, there is no guidance that addresses the needs of this group. The current national weight management strategy in Wales could be amended to provide tailored guidance for people with mental health conditions.

Data are needed

There is a lack of data in Wales on the rates of overweight and obesity among people with mental health conditions. Collecting these data will help inform whether interventions and strategies are effective. An additional benefit of better data is better planning. We will be able to monitor if policy changes and service redesign are delivering the outcomes we all want.

A framework for action at local and national levels

This report identifies several actions that can be taken in Wales to address current gaps in obesity prevention and management. We have developed a framework for action focusing on steps that can be taken at the local and national level.

Recommendations

We propose the following eight recommendations to help address the issue of weight gain among people with mental health conditions in Wales:

- 1 Provide leadership and direction to deliver healthy weight management support for people with mental health conditions.
- 2 Develop and implement targeted policies, strategies, pathways and support for healthy weight management for people with mental health conditions.
- **3** Identify people with mental health conditions who are at high risk of weight gain through screening and physical health checks and intervene early.
- 4 At a local level, be clear where weight management support is provided and increase understanding of roles that different professional groups can take in supporting healthy weight management.
- **5** Support delivery of a suite of evidence-based healthy weight management programmes.
- 6 Improve the provision of medication reviews for people using psychotropic medications that can cause weight gain.
- 7 Consider the broader context of healthy weight management, including the food environment, access to green space, and opportunity for safe physical activity.
- 8 Optimise the collection and use of data to evaluate the effectiveness of weight management approaches and measure outcomes.

Contents

1. B a	ckground and purpose of this report	10
1.1.	The importance of weight management for people with mental health problems	11
1.2. 1.3.	Integrated care for people with physical and mental health problems Purpose of this report	
	nderstanding the link between weight gain and mental heal	
2.1	Importance of addressing overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions	14
2.1.1	Mortality	
2.1.2	Impact of overweight and obesity on multimorbidity	
2.1.3	Loss of healthy years of life due to overweight and obesity	
2.1.4	Economic impact	
2.1.5	Effects on social networks and carers	· 20
2.2	Prevalence of overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions	21
3. F a	actors contributing to overweight and obesity in people with	1
men	ntal health conditions	23
7 0		

3.2	Medications that cause weight gain	25
3.3	The relationship between weight gain and poor mental health	
3.4	Sociodemographic factors	26
3.5	Behavioural factors	
3.6	Childhood obesity	
3.7	Factors related to unintegrated physical and mental health care	
3.8	Factors related to patient readiness to engage with weight	
	management interventions	31
3.9	Wider contextual factors	

4. Approaches to providing weight management support

•••••		. 33
4.1	Current weight management approaches in Wales	34
4.1.1	Health Weight: Healthy Wales	34
4.1.2	All Wales weight management and obesity pathways	35
4.1.3	Public Health Wales guidance on health weight management in primary care	76
	NICE and NHS England guidance on health weight management	38
	Follow-on care after the physical health check	
	Medication-related weight gain Behavioural versus pharmacological weight management support	

5.1	Implementing healthy weight management support guidance for	
	Wales	43
5.2	Addressing barriers to the effective implementation of weight	
	management support and interventions	. 44
5.2.1	Adapting evidence-based interventions to better support people with	
	mental health conditions	44
5.2.2	Barriers to achieving and sustaining healthy behaviour changes	45
5.2.3	Addressing misconceptions among healthcare staff	. 47
5.3	Integrating physical and mental health care	. 47
5.4	Continuity of care	. 48
5.5	Improving data and monitoring	. 48
5.6	Scaling evidence-based weight management programmes	. 49
6. Fra	amework for local and national action to improve healthy	

6. Framework for local and national action to improve healthy
weight management among people with mental health
conditions in Wales

7. References 55	
------------------	--



1. Background and purpose of this report



1.1 The importance of weight management for people with mental health problems

Effective weight management is crucial for the health and quality of life of those with mental health conditions, including severe mental illnesses (SMI). People with mental health conditions have a high risk of gaining weight. This directly worsens both mental and physical health, creating a cycle of deteriorating health and escalating healthcare demands.

The link between obesity and mental health is clear and reciprocal. Mental health conditions increase vulnerability to weight gain and, at the same time, overweight and obesity increase the likelihood of developing mental health conditions. This cycle results in higher rates of multimorbidity, making treatment more complex and leading to significant health inequalities.

People with mental health conditions are at greater risk of developing a number of physical illnesses, including cardiovascular disease (CVD), diabetes, and liver disease. Having overweight or obesity are also significant risk factors for these conditions. In addition, the double stigma associated with having both mental health problems and obesity can lead to social isolation and poorer health outcomes.

Despite the clear need, in Wales there is a significant gap in the availability of healthy weight management support for people with mental health conditions. Providing effective weight management support is essential for improving both the physical and mental health of people with mental health conditions. It can also lead to:

- improved management of psychiatric symptoms
- reduction in side effects of medication, including weight gain
- reduced premature mortality
- reduced physical illness and improvements in physical health conditions
- improvements in quality of life

1.2 Integrated care for people with physical and mental health problems

Integrating weight management support within mental health services in Wales is vital to delivering support alongside regular physical health checks. However, current healthcare systems often don't integrate weight management or medication review into the treatment plans for those with mental health conditions, leading to under-addressed physical health issues. Monitoring medication-related weight gain, and appointing a dietitian and/or physiotherapist to work with patients and staff in mental health services, can prevent progressive obesity and the need to refer to external weight management services in the first place.

There is an urgent need to develop and implement targeted and evidence-based weight management programmes that consider the unique challenges faced by people with mental health conditions, ensuring an integrated approach to their health. By taking steps now and providing integrated care for people with both mental and physical health care needs, healthcare leaders in Wales can make a real difference in the lives of people with mental health conditions who have overweight or obesity.

1.3 Purpose of this report

This report, which was commissioned by <u>RCPsych Wales</u> through its partnership with NHS Wales' <u>Joint Commissioning Committee</u> and the Dyfodol Programme, examines the link between weight gain and mental health.

The report makes a case for the importance of addressing weight gain among people with mental health conditions, describes the current provision of weight management support in Wales, highlights best practice, and provides practical recommendations and a framework for action at local and national levels.



2. Understanding the link between weight gain and mental health

2.1 Importance of addressing overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions

In Wales, over 60% of adults have overweight or obesity (3). International research has shown that people with mental health conditions are consistently more likely to have obesity compared with the general population (4). Globally, among people with SMI (data from 2016-2020) there is an estimated prevalence of obesity of 22.4% (4), compared with 16% in the general population (5). In the case of other mental health conditions, there are estimates of obesity rates as high as 43% among people with depression.



Figure 1. Global proportion of people with obesity, defined as BMI >=30, among those with and without SMI. Data from 2016-2020 on SMI from Afzal et al 2021 (4), and data on the general global prevalence estimate is from the WHO 2022 (5).

The relationship between mental health conditions and overweight and obesity is complex. People with mental health conditions are more likely to have overweight or obesity, and people with overweight or obesity are more likely to have mental health conditions. An analysis of longitudinal studies showed that those who had overweight or obesity had 27% and 55% increased odds of developing depression; while those with depression at baseline had 20% and 58% increased odds of developing overweight and obesity, respectively (6).

Similarly, people with mental health conditions have a higher prevalence of physical comorbidities compared with the general population (7–9). People with SMI have a 160% increased risk of having comorbidities compared with the general population (10), and people with depression are twice as likely to have two or more physical health conditions compared with those without depression (11). Moreover, physical health conditions among people with mental health conditions are often diagnosed late and treated insufficiently (12,13). The presence of multiple long term conditions affects people's quality of life, can delay their entry to training and the workforce, can lead to polypharmacy and adverse drug events, and can increase treatment burden and health service use (14).

2.1.1 Mortality

A key driver of the reduced life expectancy in people with mental ill health is poor physical health. People with SMI have a reduced life expectancy of 7-25 years, on average, compared with the general population (15,16). People with any mental health condition have a life expectancy that is shorter, on average, by 10.2 years for men and 7.3 years for women (12). Unfortunately, the premature mortality gap for people with SMI has been worsening over time. The Office of Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) report on premature mortality among adults with SMI showed an increasing trend 2016-2020 in excess mortality among people with SMI in England:



Figure 2. Excess premature mortality index among people with SMI, 2015-2020. Data from OHID Premature Mortality in Adults with Severe Mental Illness 2023 report (17).

Research from the United States shows that people with SMI are 3.6 times as likely to die from CVD, 1.8 times as likely from cancer, 4.2 times as likely from diabetes mellitus, and 3.6 times as likely from renal failure compared with people without SMI (17,18).Overweight and obesity are well-known risk factors for these health conditions and many more (13,19–21), and people with mental health conditions are at higher risk of overweight or obesity compared with those without mental health conditions.

While death rates from CVD and cancer are falling in the general population (though less so for people with SMI in the context of greater inequalities), deaths from liver disease are rising (22), even more so in SMI populations [1] (26). Most of these deaths are avoidable, with research estimating that two-thirds can be prevented (27).

2.1.2 Impact of overweight and obesity on multiple long-term conditions

Pathways to multiple long-term conditions

When someone has overweight or obesity, their body goes through several changes that affect their metabolism, body mechanics, inflammation and hormones. Excess body fat can cause insulin resistance, dyslipidaemia and inflammation around the organs (28–30). These factors create a triad of organ damage and increase the risk of diabetes, liver disease and CVD (23,28–30). Hormonal imbalances affecting appetite and metabolism further complicate these risks (31,32).

Additionally, obesity can increase blood pressure and cause fat build-up in the arteries, increasing the risk of heart disease and stroke (33). All these pathways make people with overweight or obesity more prone to multiple health conditions.

People with multiple long-term conditions are more likely to experience reduced mobility (34), which can result in further health decline (35). This decline in function can lead to a reduced quality of life and increased dependence on caregivers (36). Cognitive decline is more prevalent among people with multimorbidity, impairing decision-making and self-care abilities (37). Compromised immune function is another critical factor, as multiple chronic conditions weaken the body's defence mechanisms (38), increasing susceptibility to infections and prolonging recovery times. Cardiovascular events are more likely, with the cumulative strain of multiple conditions on the heart and blood vessels (33). Chronic inflammation, a common result of having multiple long-term conditions, can lead to organ damage (39) and increase the risk of severe complications and mortality.



^[1] Metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (formerly known as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease) is more common in people with SMI due to several factors: they are likely to be on obesogenic psychiatric medications that place a parallel strain on the liver, more likely to take alcohol to excess (with its liver toxic effects made worse by smoking), and have higher rates of treatable blood-borne hepatitis virus (23). Many centres are adapting screening methods for treatable liver disease in specific populations (24), while others have applied these life-changing interventions to people who have become homeless (25).

Prevalence of multiple long-term conditions

The prevalence of physical comorbidities is high among people with SMI compared with the general population. Up to 75% of people with SMI report the presence of physical comorbidities (40,41), including diabetes, neurological disorders, CVD, liver disease and metabolic and respiratory conditions (7,8), among others. People with SMI have a high prevalence (42%) of metabolic syndrome (42), and they also have a two to three-fold risk of having diabetes and CVD compared with the general population (43). Coronary heart disease is 1.2 times higher and diabetes is 1.9 times higher in people with SMI compared with the general population (27). In tertiary mental health settings, there is evidence that liver disease affects the majority of people with SMI (44).

The increased risk of physical comorbidities is not exclusive to those with SMI, but also can be seen in people with other mental health conditions. For example, people with depression have a 50% increased risk of CVD compared with the general population (9). Depression is reported in about 15% of people with CVD, two to three times higher than in general population (45). In the case of diabetes, the prevalence of depression is even higher, estimated at 28% (46). The prevalence of depression among individuals with liver disease has been estimated to be as high as 45%, varying by type of disease (47).

This also works the other way around: people with chronic physical health conditions are two to three times more likely to develop mental health conditions (48). Depression and anxiety are common among people with multimorbidity, partly due to the burden of managing multiple chronic diseases. The stress of dealing with complex medication regimens, frequent medical appointments, and persistent symptoms can contribute to psychological distress (48).

Impact of multiple long-term conditions on health management

Treating and managing multiple long-term conditions is challenging for both individuals receiving care and health systems. The interaction between multiple diseases can exacerbate symptoms, predict poorer physical health outcomes and complicate treatment and health management (14). This synergistic effect can result in increased hospitalisations, higher healthcare costs and greater risk of premature mortality.

Moreover, the presence of health conditions that are not similar in their management, such as physical and mental health conditions, creates additional challenges. Treatment regimens can easily become burdensome on patients and increase the chances of uncoordinated, fragmented care (14), which is a consequence of a siloed approach to health care.

Polypharmacy is a common consequence of multiple long-term conditions. While the various conditions need to be managed, it can, however, increase the risk of adverse drug reactions, drug interactions and medication non-adherence (49).



2.1.3 Loss of healthy years of life due to overweight and obesity

In Wales, overweight and obesity are responsible for 9% of the known risk factors for three highly burdensome types of conditions: CVD, chronic respiratory conditions and cancer (1). This is most relevant for CVD as most of the other known risk factors are strongly associated with overweight and obesity.

The impact of overweight and obesity also affects how healthy life can be for people affected by them.

Obesity leads to a significant loss of healthy years. In Wales, it has been estimated that 72,128 accumulative years of full health are lost due to overweight and obesity (1). For the general population, this is more than other factors like alcohol consumption, high cholesterol and low physical activity. This burden affects all age groups, making it one of the top three contributors to the loss of healthy years in the Welsh population (1).

2.1.4 Economic Impact

The effect of overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions goes beyond health and impacts the economy. The economic costs are both direct [2] and indirect [3] (50). The global economic impact of obesity in 2014 was estimated at 2.8% of gross domestic product (GDP) (51) and 8.4% of health expenditure (52,53). It has also been estimated that obesity will directly lead to the loss of 6 million full-time workers in the next 25 years (54). Moreover, the presence of comorbid physical and mental health conditions increases healthcare costs by at least 45%. Between 12% and 18% of all NHS spending on long-term conditions is associated with poor mental health (48).

In Wales, the economic impact of obesity has been estimated at £73 million in 2011. This means that roughly 1.5% of the country's health expenditure was related to obesity (55). These estimates are highly conservative due to difficulty in ascertain the full range of conditions affected by obesity, assigning codes to all conditions and limited evidence on how much obesity contributes to certain conditions and the associated risks. The economic impact of obesity is projected to increase over time. It has been estimated that by 2050, the cost to the NHS in Wales will be £465 million, and the total societal cost will be £2.5 billion by that year (56). Although there are no estimates of the economic impact of mental health conditions in Wales, it has been estimated that mental health conditions cost the overall UK economy roughly £118 billion each year (57).



^[2] The costs of treating the health condition and its related health outcomes.

^[3] The costs of reduced productivity due to premature mortality, loss of healthy years and productivity.

2.1.5 Effects on social networks and carers

Physical limitations and the burden of disease management resulting from overweight and obesity can restrict someone's ability to engage in social activities, leading to loneliness and diminished social networks (58). Social support is crucial for managing chronic conditions, and its absence can negatively impact health outcomes (59). For example, someone with depression and obesity may find it difficult to engage in social events, leading to a sense of loneliness and a shrinking social network. This isolation can further exacerbate symptoms of mental ill health, creating a vicious cycle where poor mental health and obesity reinforce each other. Conversely, strong social support networks have been shown to improve outcomes for individuals with chronic conditions (60).

The impact of having a mental health condition and overweight or obesity extends beyond the individual, affecting family members and carers. The physical and emotional demands of caring for someone with these conditions can be overwhelming. Family members may experience stress, anxiety and depression themselves, as they navigate the challenges of providing support (61). Carers may also struggle with feelings of helplessness and frustration, particularly if they feel ill-equipped to manage the complex needs of their loved one, and this can increase their risk of developing a physical or mental health condition and burnout (62,63). Additionally, carers might face direct financial burdens related to healthcare costs and indirect financial burden due to less availability to engage in paid work (64).

The stigma surrounding obesity can perpetuate feelings of shame and inadequacy, making it even harder for individuals to seek help or engage in social activities (65). Moreover, cultural biases can influence the quality of care received by people with obesity and mental health conditions (66,67), as healthcare providers may prioritise weight loss over the management of mental health issues, potentially leading to suboptimal treatment outcomes.

2.2 Prevalence of overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions

More than three out of five people aged 16 and over in Wales have overweight or obesity (estimated at 35% and 26%, respectively). This prevalence is not evenly distributed across the population and there are important demographic and socioeconomic differences. Although women have a lower prevalence of overweight compared with men, they have slightly higher rates of obesity. **Table 1** provides the prevalence of overweight, obesity, mental health conditions and multimorbidity among the Welsh population, by demographic and socioeconomic characteristics for the period 2022-2023.

2022-23 Welsh National Survey	Total	Men	Woman	16-44 Years	45-64 Years	65+ Years	Least Deprived	Most Deprived
Over- weight	35	40	30	32	37	38	36	34
Obesity	26	25	27	25	31	21	22	32
Over- weight/ obesity	61	65	57	57	68	59	58	66
Mental health condition	12	10	14	18	11	4	7	20
Multi- morbidity	20	17	23	11	21	33	14	27

Table 1: Prevalence in the Welsh population

Source: National Survey for Wales: Adult Lifestyles (2022-2023), National Survey for Wales: General Health and Illness (2022-2023)

^[4] Limited by data availability.

The prevalence of mental health conditions is also unevenly distributed in Wales. About 12% of the Welsh population aged 16 and over reported having a mental health condition. Women reported higher levels of mental health conditions compared with men. Moreover, the youngest age group, 16-44 years old, has a higher prevalence of mental health conditions compared with the 45-64 and over 65 years age groups.

The distribution of mental health conditions and obesity by age and gender becomes even more pronounced when focusing on individuals with SMI. In England, people with SMI aged 15–34 years are three times more likely to be classified as having obesity compared with people in the same age group without SMI (27). The obesity gap for people with SMI is even more pronounced among women compared with men, and among those aged 15–34 years relative to other age groups (27).

Socioeconomic inequalities drive higher obesity rates. Individuals from the most deprived areas have a significantly higher prevalence of obesity compared with those from the least deprived areas. Mental health conditions are also unevenly distributed, with people living in the most deprived areas reporting higher levels of mental health conditions than those living in the least deprived areas.

There are groups that are more severely affected, for example, those in secure mental health services. In 2017, a review by Public Health England showed that overweight and obesity are more prevalent among people detained in secure mental health units, with rates reaching up to 80%, compared with approximately 60% in the general population (68). Moreover, these patients face an increased risk of weight gain during their detention. This increased risk is attributed to factors such as medications causing weight gain, the restrictive nature of the environment, easy access to high-calorie foods, and limited opportunities for physical activity (69). These conditions create a challenging scenario for weight management in secure mental health settings.



3.

Factors contributing to overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions

3.1 Overview

Overweight and obesity in people with mental health conditions can be influenced by various factors, including medication side effects and sociodemographic and environmental impacts. Understanding these factors is crucial for developing effective interventions that address both mental and physical health in this population.

Weight gain and mental health problems: why we need to act now

Medication side effects and behavioural factors such as changes to diet and physical activity often lead to weight gain among people with mental health conditions. This contributes to higher rates of premature death among people with mental illness. Many of the below causes of weight gain can be addressed and prevented by careful policy action



Summary of key factors affecting the relationship between mental health and weight gain



Medication: Antipsychotic and other medications can lead to metabolic and appetite changes associated with weight gain. Communication of side effects and regular medication review by a mental health professional are essential to monitor and address weight gain early on – but medication review is rarely provided. Regular physical health checks should include medication review for anyone at risk of medication-related weight gain.



Reduced physical activity: Behavioural and lifestyle changes associated with mental health problems such as reduced physical activity can lead to increased risk of weight gain. Reduced physical activity can contribute to symptoms of mental health problems. Weight management support following the physical health checks, and community programmes, can support people to find healthy activities that will work for them.



Changes to diet and disordered eating: Binge eating, emotional eating and food cravings are more common in people with mental health conditions and can be a side effect of antipsychotic medications. Medication review can help identify these side effects early on, so they can be addressed with a dietitian or relevant health professional.



Stigma, prejudice, and discrimination: Stigma and attitudes around mental health and weight can result in biased treatment, lack of empathy and hesitancy to seek help, lower self-esteem, challenges finding employment and increased isolation.



Lack of integrated physical and mental health care: fragmented physical and mental health care can lead to inadequately and unaddressed needs. Time pressure and low confidence in discussing weight gain/obesity or mental health may mean staff prioritise managing psychiatric symptoms or physical health needs only.





Socioeconomic & health inequalities: Low SES is associated with higher rates of obesity and mental health problems. Higher obesity prevalence may be linked to limited access to healthy food, elevated stress and less opportunities for physical activity. People with low SES also experience inequalities such as reduced access to health care.

3.2 Medications that cause weight gain

Antipsychotic medication is important for managing symptoms of SMI and is also used for other mental health conditions. However, this medication can cause significant weight gain, because of metabolic changes, increased appetite and alterations in lipid and glucose metabolism. There is also evidence of unfavourable changes to the gut microbiome caused by antipsychotic medication (70). Most patients with first-episode psychosis gain over 7% of their body weight in the first year of treatment (71,72). The extent of weight gain varies by drug, with olanzapine and clozapine causing the most (73). While second-generation antipsychotics are considered to cause more weight gain, first-generation antipsychotics like chlorpromazine can also lead to notable weight gain (74). Such weight gain poses additional health risks to individuals already dealing with mental health conditions. However, in some cases it may be challenging to find effective alternative options that do not cause weight gain. For example, the antipsychotic that causes the greatest weight gain, clozapine, is recommended for treatment-resistant schizophrenia, and is helpful for managing symptoms where other medications may not work, and can improve life expectancy (75).

Numerous antidepressant and anti-anxiolytic medications, used for other mental health conditions, are also associated with weight gain (76–78).

People with mental health conditions may be unaware that their treatment can lead to weight gain, which could result in unaddressed weight management issues (79). Weight gain may also lead to poor adherence to the treatment regimen. Informing people about the side effects of their medication can help them to feel prepared to cope with the side effects, and can help to build a supportive and trusting relationship between the patient and care provider(80).

Medication reviews are critical to identifying and addressing medication-related weight gain. Medication review and adjustment, along with behavioural support to achieve healthy behaviour change, should be the first step. The appropriate provision of options to supply adjunctive treatment to address weight gain, or alternative medication, can be a second step where medication adjustment and behaviour change are not enough to curb weight gain. This is highlighted in the recommendations and framework for action.

3.3 The relationship between weight gain and poor mental health

The relationship between weight gain and mental health is bidirectional and complex. Weight gain can exacerbate mental health issues, leading to a cycle where poor mental health contributes to behaviours that promote weight gain, and vice versa. For example, people with depression may experience increased appetite and reduced physical activity, leading to weight gain, which can further increase their depressive symptoms. This can partially explain why there is both an increased risk of mental health conditions among people with obesity and an increased risk of obesity among people with mental health conditions.

Moreover, it's also important to note that people with mental health conditions who have overweight or obesity face a phenomenon known as double stigma. While some people can conceal a mental health condition, it is much harder to hide overweight or obesity from the gaze of others. The combination of prejudice and discrimination is evident in multiple ways, including biased treatment, hesitancy to seek assistance, challenges in finding employment, isolation from social circles, and decreased empathy from others (79,81). This stigma can create a vicious cycle of self-stigma, where emotional eating as a coping mechanism results in more weight gain, greater distress and delayed recovery (82). Addressing this double stigma is essential for creating a supportive environment, including in health services, which encourages individuals to seek help and manage both their mental and physical health effectively.

3.4 Sociodemographic factors

Sociodemographic factors, including age, ethnicity, gender, and SES, influence weight gain among individuals with mental health conditions. Weight gain patterns can vary by age and gender, with middle-aged people being more prone to having overweight or obesity. Although women consistently show lower rates of overweight compared with males in Wales, the opposite is true for obesity. As seen in Table 1, obesity in women is more prevalent. This pattern holds for SMI (27).

Low SES is associated with higher rates of obesity due to factors such as limited access to healthy foods, elevated stress levels, and fewer opportunities for physical activity. As shown in Section 2.2, individuals living in more deprived areas exhibit higher rates of obesity and mental health conditions. The increased prevalence of obesity among low SES populations is largely influenced by their living environments and the affordability of food. People living in food insecurity do not have consistent access to nutritious and safe food, leading to reliance on inexpensive, calorie-dense, and nutrient-poor foods (83,84).

People with low SES often experience inequalities, including reduced access to healthcare services and treatment (13,85) and disparities exacerbated by socioeconomic barriers like social deprivation, poverty and stigma, which can also lead to harmful lifestyle behaviours and high rates of food insecurity (86). Nearly 40% of people with SMI live with food insecurity (87). Social exclusion and isolation, often experienced by people with mental health conditions (88), can further influence the adoption of health-harming behaviours (86).

3.5 Behavioural factors

Behavioural factors play a crucial role in weight gain among people with mental health conditions. Sedentary behaviour is a significant contributor, and sedentary behaviour is more common among people using psychotropic medications (89). Sedentary time is greater among people with mental health conditions and physical activity is lower compared with general population (89). Drowsiness and sedentary behaviour can be side effects of many antipsychotic medications. Sedentary behaviour negatively impacts people's physical and mental health and, combined with reduced motivation and energy levels, increases the risk of weight gain.

Another important behavioural factor is disordered eating[1], including binge eating, emotional eating, food cravings and ingesting snacks throughout the day and night. There is robust evidence of elevated rates of disordered eating behaviours among people with mental health conditions compared with the general population (91). Psychiatric medication has been associated with disordered eating due to its influence on the brain's satiety centre or on insulin and gastrointestinal hormones (90); however, even after controlling for age, sex and medication elevated rates of disordered eating behaviours can still be seen (92). The increased prevalence of disordered eating has also been attributed to deficits in executive function, which impair the ability to inhibit behaviour (93), and a greater propensity to experience negative emotions, leading to the consumption of energy-dense foods for comfort (94). The quality of ingested food is another critical factor influencing obesity in people with mental health conditions. Diets are often low in fruit and vegetables but high in energy density and sodium, contributing to poor nutritional quality (95,96). Obstacles to keeping healthy eating behaviours include food cravings associated with antipsychotic use, negative perceptions of healthy eating, decreased feelings of fullness, challenges in changing eating habits, and the use of food for comfort. Additionally, the prioritisation of addressing mental illness over diet, limited access to healthy foods, social pressures, and the side effects of psychiatric medications further complicate the ability to sustain a healthy diet (97).



Factors like smoking, alcohol use, obesity, medication, and self-harm are deeply interconnected, contributing to poor physical health and increased premature mortality among individuals with mental health conditions. These factors not only exacerbate psychiatric conditions but also lead to chronic physical illnesses, creating a cycle of poor health outcomes. *Figure 1* illustrates the interconnection between these factors.

^[5] Unhealthy eating patterns that, while not severe enough to be classified as an eating disorder, still negatively affect people's functioning (90).



Smoking

Direct cause of cardiovascular

Figure 3. Drivers of premature mortality in people with SMI



Alcohol excess /

dependance

Source: Byrne P. 'Premature mortality of people with severe mental illness: a renewed focus for a new era'. Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine, 2023.40:1: 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2022.3. (98)

30

3.6 Childhood Obesity

Childhood obesity is a significant predictor of adult obesity, and its persistence into adulthood is well-documented. Children and young people with obesity are more than five times more likely to have obesity in adulthood compared with children and young people without obesity (99). The trajectories of obesity show that about 55% of children with obesity continue to have obesity as teenagers. Around 80% of teenagers with overweight stay overweight as adults and about 70% remain overweight past the age of 30 (100). This persistent trajectory highlights the importance of early intervention to prevent poor health later in life.

The trajectory from childhood obesity to adult obesity is influenced by various factors, including genetic predisposition (101), and environmental (102) and behavioural influences (103). Children who grow up in environments with limited access to healthy foods and opportunities for physical activity are more likely to continue to have obesity as adults (103,104). Additionally, childhood obesity can lead to psychological issues such as low selfesteem and body dissatisfaction (105), perpetuating unhealthy behaviours and weight gain into adulthood.

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are strongly associated with poor physical health outcomes in adulthood (106), with research indicating a dose-dependent relationship between the number of ACEs and the prevalence of health-harming behaviours, such as poor diet (107). While the exact mechanisms leading to obesity in individuals with ACEs remain unclear, evidence suggests that stress-induced physiological impacts (108) and psychological avoidance behaviours (109) play significant roles. Moreover, there is robust evidence linking ACEs with mental health conditions, with the odds of developing such a condition increasing by 52% for each ACEs (110).

3.7 Factors related to unintegrated physical and mental health care

Integrated care involves delivering health and care services in a coordinated way to meet an individual's various needs, ensuring that medical, social and psychological aspects are addressed together (111). Integrated care is crucial given the poor physical health of people with mental health conditions, a key driver of the reduced life expectancy in this group.

Fragmented, unintegrated healthcare services can lead to gaps in care, in which physical health conditions in people with mental health conditions are inadequately addressed, and vice versa. This fragmentation, particularly between primary and secondary care, can result in insufficient follow-up and monitoring. Low staff numbers, staff not feeling confident to discuss overweight and obesity are factors, and healthcare providers prioritising managing psychiatric symptoms over addressing weight gain, can result in less support for lifestyle changes that could mitigate overweight and obesity.

In addition, people with mental health conditions may think their mental health professionals are too busy or do not understand weight gain and there is sometimes a lack of trust and engagement between people with mental health conditions and healthcare services due to past negative experiences or perceived stigmatisation (112). Building trust through respectful and empathetic care can enhance engagement and improve health outcomes (79,113).

Coordinated care models that integrate services across different health domains can improve outcomes (111). People with mental health conditions often have limited access to information and support regarding healthy eating and physical activity (114), hindering their ability to make informed decisions about their health. As explored in the next subsection, providing accessible educational resources and supportive interventions can empower individuals to manage their weight effectively (115).

3.8 Factors related to patient readiness to engage with weight management interventions

Patient readiness to engage with weight management interventions is critical for success. Factors affecting readiness include motivation, support systems, perceived benefits, and barriers to participation. To increase patient readiness, early behaviour change support, such as motivational interviewing, can improve self-efficacy and willingness to participate in weight management (79,116). Interventions are more successful when they influence individuals' existing strengths and aspirations (116). Additionally, ongoing social support, especially from family and peers, is crucial for sustaining positive behaviour changes and improving outcomes (117,118).

Building a supportive environment that encourages patients to take an active role in their health is essential. This includes providing education about the benefits of weight management, addressing potential barriers such as lack of access to healthy foods or exercise facilities, and offering ongoing support through regular follow-ups and adjustments to the care plan. Engaging patients in the decision-making process and respecting their preferences can also enhance their readiness to participate in weight management interventions.

3.9 Wider contextual factors

The broader **environmental context** also plays a significant role in weight gain among people with mental health conditions. Food deserts, common in deprived areas with higher concentrations of people with mental health conditions and obesity, limit access to affordable, nutritious food (119). This leads residents to rely on cheaper food including fast food and other unhealthy options, contributing to weight gain.

In deprived areas, limited access to exercise facilities further restricts opportunities for physical activity, contributing to sedentary lifestyles and weight gain (120). Developing community-based exercise programmes and providing support to improve access to recreational facilities can help mitigate this issue. An obesogenic environment, characterised by easy access to unhealthy foods and limited opportunities for physical activity, significantly impacts the weight gain of vulnerable populations, including those with mental health conditions (120,121).

Commercial determinants of ill health, such as industry practices, marketing strategies, and economic policies, play a crucial role in shaping unhealthy consumption patterns (122). The sugar-sweetened beverage (SSB) industry employs aggressive marketing strategies, lobbying and tactics to influence public perception and policy. The SSB industry actively lobbies against regulations, such as SSB taxes and front-of-package labelling, and employs strategies to shift the blame for health issues, like obesity, onto individuals (123). Practices, such as SSB taxation, could help to reduce obesity, by a projected 0.99% to 2.7% (124). In Mexico, it has been estimated that nearly 240,000 cases of obesity would be prevented, 39% of them among children (125), if SSB taxation were introduced. These, however, are projections. A more concrete effect can be seen in the purchased volume of SSB. After increasing taxation of SSB in Chile, the monthly purchased volume of SSB was reduced by nearly 22% (126). In the UK, a year after introducing an SSB tax, sugar consumption in children and adults was reduced (127) and there is also evidence of a reduction in obesity among children in their last primary school year, especially among girls living in the most deprived areas (128).

The food environment in hospitals and inpatient units is also important factor. Effective facilities focus on providing nutritious, high-quality meals that patients and staff value (129). Integrating catering, dietetics, and nursing teams is essential to improve nutritional outcomes for patients (129). However, concerns persist about the presence of fast-food outlets on hospital premises, which can undermine health efforts (130). Many secure units have recognised the problem of access to unhealthy food (for example, takeaways) and have adopted policies to reduce access to unhealthy foods, make healthier options more accessible, and manage portion sizes (68,131).





33

4.1 Current weight management approaches in Wales

At a national level, the Welsh Government have published the All-Wales Weight Management Pathway (AWWMP), and the Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales obesity strategy (132,133). Public Health Wales has produced a <u>document outlining the primary care needs of people with</u> <u>overweight and obesity</u>, which is aligned to the objectives of the Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales strategy and is intended to support the implementation of the AWWMP.

4.1.1 Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales

<u>Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales</u> outlines a national long-term strategy to reduce obesity by creating healthier environments including at schools and in healthcare settings by focussing on prevention and early intervention, including via targeted and specialist services, and by building leadership to deliver the programme nationally and via local systems.

Currently, there is no specific weight management strategy aimed at people with mental health conditions. <u>Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales</u> should therefore be supplemented with the more specialised approach set out in the NHS England guidance (134) to better inform weight management strategies for people with mental health conditions.

Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales Strategy Key Areas

- Healthy environments: Promoting healthier food and active environments across Wales.
- 2 Healthy settings: Promoting health within education, work and community settings.
- Healthy people:
 Focusing on prevention and early intervention and promoting provision of targeted and specialist services to reduce conditions linked to obesity.
- Leadership and enabling change:
 Promoting national delivery and a systems-based approach.

4.1.2 All Wales Weight Management and Obesity Pathways

The <u>All Wales Weight Management Pathway</u> (AWWMP) provides a four-level weight management pathway system (132), as set out in the Figure below.

Level 1 aims to ensure availability and promotion to the public of a range of opportunities to support people to achieve and maintain a healthy body weight in a supportive environment, without the need to access specific health services.

Level 2 aims to ensure availability of a range of services for people who wish to lose weight and have been identified as being at increased risk of obesity by a member of the primary care team. This would include behaviour-based weight management support.

At **level 3**, the aim is to ensure availability of services for people with obesity who have one or more comorbidities and several unsuccessful intervention attempts, or those with complex emotional relationships with food. These services provide more specialist interventions and can be delivered in both primary and secondary care. They act as a gateway to secondary care ensuring that secondary care services are used appropriately. Drug therapy can be considered at level 3, combined with other approaches, if these have been unsuccessful when used alone. **Level 4** aims to provide a specialist medical and surgical (bariatric surgery) service to those individuals who have failed to achieve or maintain adequate weight loss through other interventions in the pathway.

The AWWMP proposes that service design and delivery should be person-centred, psychologically, and behaviourally informed, should focus on long-term health change, should provide integrated, co-ordinated, and ongoing weight management support for the patient (132). However, tailored weight management support for people with mental health conditions has not been outlined.

The AWWMP Obesity Pathway, which was established in 2010 but is currently under review, also sets out a four-level approach to manage and treat obesity. Severalguidelines have been produced to guide the effective implementation of the pathway, such as the Primary Care Obesity Prevention Plan (135), a report on the primary care needs of people with overweight and obesity (Hannah et al., 2021), and a report of behavioural insights of people supporting weight management that work in primary care (Pringle et al., 2021). However, none of these provides weight management guidance specific to people with mental health conditions. There is advice about how to implement the recommendations for people with mental health condition in Section 5.

Figure 4. The four levels of the All Wales Weight Management Pathway

Specialist surgical services: for BMI indicating obesity & recent diagnosis of type 2 diabetes; for people with severe obesity; lower BMI criteria for people from Black or South Asian groups

Specialist multidisciplinary weight
management services: for BMI indicating
severe obesity, or obesity plus other health
conditions
3

Multi-component weight management
support: for BMI indicating obesity but with
no other health conditions
2

Brief advice and self-directed support: for

BMI indicating overweight but without obesity and no other health conditions

4.1.3 Public Health Wales guidance on healthy weight management in primary care

The <u>Public Health Wales publication on the primary care needs of people with overweight</u> <u>and obesity</u> states that primary care, including GPs and clinical pharmacists, can play an important role in weight management for people with mental health conditions by providing medication reviews. Primary care and community pharmacists would be able to review and adjust antidepressant medications, however, <u>specialist mental health pharmacists</u> would be best placed to review and adjust antipsychotic medications.

Medication reviews are essential, but the current system has gaps in their delivery and in the provision of physical health checks for people with mental health conditions.


Community pharmacists, who have central roles within health provision of a local area, could help with signposting to screening and identifying people in need of specialist support for medication reviews.

Without pathways in place connecting community care, primary care and specialist mental health services, weight management support and medication reviews will not reach the people who need it.

A **weight management care pathway for local areas** should set out how physical health checks and medication management are provided, and how the referrals process can be implemented and improved.

Currently, there isn't clear guidance on the coordination and delivery of medication reviews or weight management support. Coordination between primary care and mental health teams can help support delivery and reduce gaps in provision. Clearer specification of these roles and integration of weight management support in health care is necessary to ensure people can access the right help.

4.2 NICE and NHS England guidance on healthy weight management

The <u>NICE guidance on obesity management</u> recommends supported behavioural weight management interventions for people with overweight or obesity who meet certain criteria. While there is no specific healthy weight management guidance for people with mental health conditions, the <u>NHS England guidance on improving the physical health of people living with severe mental illness</u> outlines the importance of healthy weight management for this group. NHS England and NICE guidance on <u>bipolar disorder</u> and <u>psychosis and</u> <u>schizophrenia</u> recommend regular <u>physical health checks</u>, beginning at initial diagnosis (136).

Healthy weight management support provided to eligible patients via physical health checks should follow the NICE guidance for obesity prevention (137), and physical activity brief advice (138).

Below, we highlight key features of the physical health checks and considerations for delivery.

SMI physical health checks: what you need to know

- All adults on the SMI register should be offered all 6 recommended physical health assessments, **at least annually**. This requires that the SMI register is up to date.
- Medication management is part of the physical health checks.
- People with SMI may have a history of **trauma**. Trauma-informed delivery of health checks is vital.
- Ensure care doesn't stop at screening. Follow up is essential.

People with other mental health conditions may also benefit from physical health checks – especially if they are prescribed psychotropic medications where weight gain as a side effect. Medication review and physical health monitoring are important for these groups, too.

4.2.1 Follow-on care after the physical health check

The health checks can identify areas where more support is needed and facilitate early intervention. However, physical health care does not end with the health check – this is the starting point.

Where patients are prescribed medications that lead to weight gain, or if issues of weight gain are identified, early intervention is essential. Medication-related weight gain can be addressed by modifying the prescription, where appropriate, and by supplementing this with weight management support.

The current guidance on physical health checks suggests that follow-on care should include **tailored support** to meet the health needs of people with SMI. To improve access, this support should be embedded through health services. Local areas should provide clear guidance on how follow-on care should be delivered wherever need is identified during the physical health check.

Community mental health teams can play a role in delivering physical health checks and ensuring proper follow-up, as described in <u>case studies</u> from NHS England Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust, and <u>Bradford</u>.

4.2.2 Medication-related weight gain

Current guidance on physical health checks for people with SMI specify that medication monitoring should be part of routine physical health care.

The Equally Well UK briefing, <u>Healthy Weight Management in People with Severe Mental</u> <u>Illness</u>, sets out that antipsychotic medications play a major role in weight gain, along with behavioural and other factors. To mitigate and address medication-related weight gain, the Equally Well briefing states that:

- The clinician should consider selecting an antipsychotic that is less likely to cause weight gain
- The adverse effects of medication should be communicated with the patient
- A plan should be put in place to manage adverse effects, including weight gain
- Interventions to address weight gain should include behaviour change support. Such interventions are essential for improving physical health via healthy lifestyle changes, and are more likely to be effective among people who have newly started taking antipsychotic medication
- Adjunctive medications can also support weight management, as can bariatric surgery.

The Public Health England/NHS England guidance on managing a healthy weight in adult secure services provides more detailed advice for clinicians on considerations around antipsychotic use (139).

Antipsychotic medications can affect weight gain to varying degrees. The Maudsley Prescribing Guidelines advises on safe prescribing of psychotropic medications, including adverse effects, switching medications and de-prescribing (140). <u>NICE guidelines</u> state that antipsychotic medications should be initiated at low doses and monitored for side effects in the first 6 months of use.

A review published by <u>Dayabandara et al in 2017</u>, which is highlighted in the Equally Well briefing, summarises the weight gain risks of several common antipsychotics (141).

In addition to considering the weight gain impacts of medications, the side effects database, <u>Psymatik</u> [6] (142), can inform prescribing practices and facilitate comparing the risks and benefits of each medication. Healthcare staff should discuss these with patients and offer support while monitoring impacts.

Medication review

Regular medication review is essential to manage the side effects of antipsychotic prescriptions. Medication review can occur via specialist care, and specialist mental health pharmacists. GPs and community pharmacists may also carry out medication review, however for antipsychotic medications specialist support is often needed (143). Medication review is essential for identifying any issues with current prescriptions and making adjustments where needed.

Management of antipsychotic-related weight gain should include, where appropriate: changing medications or adjusting the dose, de-prescribing antipsychotic medications or adding on adjuvant medications to support weight loss (144). This would likely require **specialist** input. Individuals likely to require medication adjustment should therefore receive review by specialist services. **This can be facilitated by community mental health teams**, where the need for expert review can be flagged by the GP.

Improved implementation of physical health checks within the first year of medication initiation, and provision of appropriate follow-up, can facilitate earlier intervention. This will be more effective than reactive care. NHS trusts and regions should establish best practices for coordinating physical health care and medication reviews, and how this can be delivered across primary, secondary and community care.

^[6] A not-for-profit website (free to use with an NHS e-mail) that recommends prescribing based on patients' wishes to avoid ranked unwanted side effects of psychiatric medicines.



4.2.3 Behavioural versus pharmacological weight management support

Strategies in Wales on weight management support for people with mental health conditions should consider options for both behavioural and pharmacological support for healthy weight management.

Currently NICE guidelines recommend offering behavioural support before offering weight loss medication due to limited evidence of the latter's effectiveness, especially for antipsychotic-induced weight gain (145). Weight loss medication may not lead to improved physical health among people with mental health conditions (146) and should be coupled with lifestyle support. Healthy behaviour changes are essential for improving long-term health outcomes, and a holistic approach to treating weight gain should include a behavioural component even where pharmacological support is used.



5.

Implementing healthy weight management guidance and interventions for people with mental health conditions

5.1 Implementing healthy weight management support guidance for Wales

As set out in Section 4, the Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales strategy and the AWWMP do not provide weight management guidance specific to people with mental health conditions. Here we suggest how the recommendations from the strategy and pathway can be adapted and implemented to better support people with mental health conditions **(see Table 2)**.

Table 2: Tailored weight management recommendations and how to implement them

Recommendation	Implementing the recommendations for people with mental health conditions
Greater responsibility for the long-term management of obesity by the health service	Ensure that physical health checks are provided to people with mental health conditions and that there is proper follow-up care.
Implement person-centred care for people with obesity, across their treatment journey	Provide proactive instead of reactive weight management support for patients who are on medications that cause weight gain.
Support staff members working with people with obesity, to improve their knowledge, skills, and confidence through education, training, and good communication	Provide mental health staff with appropriate training to give weight management support to patients, and to address bias and stigma within the care setting. Promote the use of gentle open-ended questions, such as asking if the patient is comfortable to discuss weight or be weighed. Incorporate motivational interviewing techniques and engage in regular case discussions with a dietitian and other experts.
Increase the understanding of specific roles that different professional groups can best play in supporting weight management	Across mental health services, primary care, and community services, there should be coordination of physical health care for people with mental health conditions. Inconsistent delivery of physical health care means that staff do not know what support will be available to their patients, or who will provide the weight management support. Increasing familiarity with local weight management care pathways is key.
Optimise overweight and obesity data usage and digital healthcare technologies	Improve systematic data collection, better access to data and increased use of data to inform development of services and better understand the impact of weight management interventions.
Increase the accessibility and availability of weight management interventions	Improve access to physical health checks for people with SMI. Where overweight or obesity is present, or where medications are being used that can cause weight gain, provide weight management support proactively.

5.2 Addressing barriers to the effective implementation of weight management support and interventions

5.2.1 Adapting evidence-based interventions to better support people with mental health conditions

There are several weight management interventions, such as behaviour-based interventions, that have been effectively tailored and delivered to adults without mental health conditions (147–150). However, there is a lack of clear evidence on how these interventions can be delivered in a way that addresses the barriers experienced by people with mental health conditions. Moreover, these interventions have not been designed to address the barriers to engaging in weight management interventions that many people with mental health conditions face, such as anxiety in social situations exacerbated by symptoms of their mental illness (i.e., paranoia), low self-esteem, and difficulties with concentration and motivation (151). Specialised support can be particularly beneficial for those on weight-inducing medications or in inpatient care (152).

An effective means of improving engagement in weight management interventions for people with mental health conditions is to make appropriate adaptations (McGinty et al., 2018). For example, an adapted weight management intervention was assessed in the Achieving Healthy Lifestyles in Psychiatric Rehabilitation (ACHIEVE) trial (153,154), which lasted 18 months and led to a significant reduction in weight in women with SMI with overweight or obesity when compared with the control group.

The reasons why adapted interventions are successful have been explored in a recent review by Lee and colleagues (151) of 54 studies on weight management interventions for people with mental health conditions. The authors found several common characteristics that were identified by patients, and through exploring the efficacy of treatment, which appear to promote engagement in weight management interventions:

- Education on specific contributors to weight gain, such as the side effects of medication, helps to improve knowledge and confidence in managing these side effects.
- An emphasis on the achievements of individuals undertaking weight management programmes counteracts low motivation to engage and feelings of low self-efficacy.
- A knowledgeable facilitator who understands the nature of a person's specific mental health needs and who conveys empathy and respect has a positive impact on engagement.
- Peer support opportunities that allow patients to connect with other individuals engaging in the intervention also improves engagement.



- Proactive support provided to patients between sessions, such as phone calls from the facilitator, can counteract factors that impede the ability to engage with the intervention outside of the session. This fosters the therapeutic rapport which has a positive impact on weight management outcomes, as well as reduces feelings of isolation.
- Tools such as an intervention handbook, a pedometer or cookery books can support engagement with the intervention.
- Materials that are tailored to the needs of the patient group, such as content that is in simple and plain English, and structured in a way that suits their needs (such as providing shorter and repeated sessions), makes it easier for patients to engage particularly when experiencing mental health symptoms.
- Practical support such as organising travel to the intervention site, which helps reduce fears and anxieties and maintains attendance.
- Incentives such as free healthy food samples and vouchers, particularly for people who live in areas of higher depravity and where access to healthier food is limited.

5.2.2 Barriers to achieving and sustaining healthy behaviour changes

Achieving and sustaining healthy behaviour changes can be challenging for people with mental health conditions who have overweight or obesity. In **Table 3**, we describe three primary barriers to achieving healthy behaviour changes, as identified in the cited literature, and potential steps to address these.

Table 3: Barrers to achieving and sustaining healthy behaviour changes

Barrier	Steps to address it
People with mental health conditions might not be offered weight management support when needed	 More consistent offering of physical health checks People with mental health conditions are less likely to be registered with a GP, and are more likely to present late with physical health problems. Ensuring better access to primary care is essential Dietitian support to people taking medications that cause weight gain as a preventative measure Considering antipsychotic or antidepressant medication use as a criterion for receiving weight management support for people who have a BMI indicating overweight but not obesity Building in weight management as part of the treatment plan
For clinicians, physical health may not be a priority for patients receiving mental health care	 Ensuring that patients and care providers understand the connection between physical and mental health Understanding how patients will benefit from physical health care, to enable care providers to prioritise medication reviews Collaboration between secondary and primary care, which is essential to provide appropriate of physical health care, and addressing the current lack of coordinated care (143,155)
Lack of staff training in providing evidence-based weight management support	 Upskilling staff to deliver a tailored approach to healthy weight management (standard weight management advice may not always be appropriate for patients taking antipsychotic or other medications that can cause weight gain) Creating a resource for patients and staff to understand the impacts of medication on eating behaviours and weight, and the most obesogenic medications – for example, a more accessible version of the Maudsley Guidelines Providing staff training to build understanding, and reduce bias.



5.2.3 Addressing misconceptions among healthcare staff

A further barrier to the effective implementation of weight management interventions for people with mental health conditions includes misconceptions among healthcare staff regarding obesity in this population. Stigmatisation of weight has been reported among healthcare staff (156), some of whom can view people with obesity as lazy and lacking in willpower (157), ignoring the complexity of the condition. In the context of mental health this is significant, given that, as noted previously, people with mental health conditions and obesity experience double stigma (81). Weight stigmatisation within healthcare settings should be addressed, given the deleterious effects stigma has on treatment outcomes (158).

Misconceptions around obesity among mental healthcare staff may be exacerbated by a lack of knowledge surrounding the bi-directional relationship between excess weight and mental illness (see Section 3.2). To overcome this, education and training should be provided for staff members to highlight the complex causes of obesity, while also challenging negative stereotypes surrounding obesity in clinical settings to shift the culture that often shames people with overweight or obesity (159). Addressing misconceptions among healthcare staff about obesity in people with mental health conditions requires targeted strategies to enhance understanding, empathy and evidence-based practices.

5.3 Integrating physical and mental health care

This report has underscored the importance of bridging the gap between physical and mental health care for people with mental health conditions, not only to mitigate the impact of physical ill health on mental health and recovery from mental illness, but also to address the under-identification and under-treatment of health risks due to weight gain.

In the framework for action (see Section 6), we set out several **actions to bridge the gap between physical and mental health care** and reduce the inadequate prevention and treatment of weight-related health problems among people with mental health conditions. These actions include [reference: <u>NHSE Taskforce 5 year forward plan, 2014</u>]:

- 1 Develop a screening programme for people with mental health conditions who are at greatest risk of weight gain (e.g. those taking obesogenic psychotropic medications).
- 2 Educate staff and patients about the role of physical health in recovering from mental health conditions
- **3** Ensure that, where needed, healthy weight management support is integrated into the patient's care plan and provided from the start. Review progress at subsequent physical health checks and identify goals shared by the patient and the service.
- 4 Provide information on nutrition and physical activity proactively, as dietitian support is currently more reactive than proactive
- **5** Provide oversight of the delivery of physical health checks and weight management support for people with mental health conditions across local areas.

5.4 Continuity of Care

Supporting people throughout their weight management journey is key, beginning with early, proactive conversations about potential weight gain. These discussions should be revisited regularly to ensure ongoing awareness and engagement. Continuity of care is essential, particularly during transitions through different stages of the care pathway, to maintain consistent support and effective management (79).

5.5 Improving data and monitoring

Monitoring weight and other biometric measures (e.g., waist circumference) should be a routine aspect of preventative healthcare and should be offered to all patients, rather than being based on the perception of a problem (160). Monitoring outcome data at the population level – such as overweight and obesity rates in people with mental health conditions and with different groups of people with mental health conditions (e.g., SMI) – is essential to evaluating whether weight management interventions are working. Up-to-date information on rates of overweight and obesity, and levels of engagement with weight management services in people with mental health conditions, are critical to providing the right resources and care.

5.6 Scaling evidence-based weight management programmes

The lack of available weight management provision for people with mental health conditions is due in part to the complexity of interventions, particularly where they include multiple dimensions for treatment. This inhibits their ability to be used by wider groups of individuals who are being treated across a variety of psychiatric services. However, there are a number of strategies that can be implemented in the design of weight management interventions, as identified by McGinty and colleagues (161), so that they can be delivered to a greater number of people with mental health conditions. One strategy is to **increase staff capacity** to deliver weight management interventions, including training in techniques such as motivational interviewing. It is also important to make adaptations appropriate for the specific service in which the interventions that have been effective in non-psychiatric populations.

Just as mental health staff now acknowledge that smoking is everyone's business, we need to make the case for overweight and obesity. Therefore, **implementing leadership roles** within services is important to facilitate ongoing support for weight management interventions. Promoting a culture of care that enables the **implementation of weight management interventions** and supports good physical health more broadly is crucial. Finally, developing **financial mechanisms for implementation strategies** is necessary to sustain these efforts.





6. Framework for action

Table 4: Framework for local and national action to improve healthy weight management among people with mental health conditions in Wales

Recommendation	Specific actions
1.Provide leadership and direction to deliver healthy weight management support for people with mental health conditions and to prevent obesity and overweight.	 Set national priorities to deliver healthy weight management support to people with mental health conditions. Develop local structures for implementing and sustaining provision of physical health checks and follow-on healthy weight management support. Create NHS leadership to assess and address the environment of mental health services, including the provision of healthy food and opportunities to develop healthy behaviours as part of recovery. Establish regional and national leadership structures to identify and address societal determinants of weight gain and mental ill health. Ensure consistent messaging at all levels of policy, public health, local authorities and health service settings, for example via inclusion in Working Together for a Healthier Wales
2. Develop and implement targeted policies, strategies, pathways and support for healthy weight management for people with mental health conditions.	 Develop targeted guidance, incorporating recommendations from NICE and NHS England on healthy weight management for people with mental health conditions. Revise national weight management strategies, including Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales, with people with lived experience of mental health conditions. Develop national implementation pathways and targets for healthy weight management for people with mental health conditions, and adapt them for local systems. Develop community-based exercise programmes and improve access to recreational facilities.

52

3. Identify people with mental health conditions who are at high risk of weight gain through screening and physical health checks and intervene early.	 Develop a screening programme for people with mental health conditions who are at greatest risk of weight gain (e.g. those taking obesogenic psychotropic medications). Educate staff and patients about the role of physical health in recovering from mental health conditions. Ensure that, where needed, healthy weight management support is integrated into the patient's care plan and provided from the start. Review progress at subsequent physical health checks and identify goals shared by the patient and the service. Provide information on nutrition and physical activity proactively, as dietitian support is currently more reactive than proactive. Provide oversight of the delivery of physical health checks and weight management support for people with mental health conditions across local areas.
4. At a local level, be clear where weight management support is provided and increase understanding of roles that different professional groups can take in supporting healthy weight management.	 Identify the best settings in which to deliver healthy weight management support. Where possible, embed healthy weight management support in mental health services at local levels. Create local strategic delivery plans for healthy weight management support across primary, secondary and community care. Increase staff familiarity with local weight management care pathways. Ensure accountability – monitor implementation of weight management support pathways, over time.
5. Support delivery of a suite of evidence-based healthy weight management programmes.	 Develop training materials and guidance at a national level to support delivery of healthy weight management support at a local level, via a new joined-up charter. Ensure support from medical liaisons in the delivery of weight management support. Increase the accessibility of weight management interventions by improving access to physical health checks (see recommendation 3) and follow on support. Ensure that there is a suite of options available for people with overweight or obesity, ranging from evidence-based lifestyle interventions to weight loss medications. Provide behaviour-based weight management support first, and then consider medication to support weight loss where appropriate

6. Improve the provision of medication reviews for people using psychotropic medications that can cause weight gain.	 Create and implement medication management strategies through local health boards and NHS trusts. Ensure expert medication reviews are carried out for the highest risk patients and that practitioners: Monitor people with SMI who are taking psychotropic medications that are known to cause weight gain and other side effects, following NICE guidelines[I] Are educated about the most obesogenic antidepressants and, for people starting on these drugs, practitioners have put a plan in place to help prevent or manage weight gain. Have access to helpful resources e.g. the Lester tool. Ensure that medication reviews carried out in primary care involve a secondary mental health professional or a specialist pharmacist and that the outcome is shared with everyone involved in the person's care (as per NICE guidance).
7. Consider the broader context of healthy weight management, including the food environment, access to green space, and opportunity for safe physical activity.	 Provide training to healthcare staff to understand the complex impacts of broader socioeconomic factors, policies, and issues such as the high cost of living, food deserts and food insecurity on patients' weight gain. Co-produce a healthier environment in inpatient settings by: Improving the nutrition of hospital food Providing green outside spaces Organising activities for patients that do not revolve around unhealthy snacking, smoking or vaping. Swap unhealthy vending machine options for free access to water and fruit. Develop community-based exercise programmes and improve access to recreational facilities, which will help provide opportunities for healthy activities. Provide education about healthy eating, where to source healthy food, and how to cook nutritious meals on a budget. Ensure consistent messaging at all levels of policy, public health, local authorities and health service settings, for example, via inclusion in Working Together for a Healthier Wales.

53

^[7] Follow the <u>Psychosis and schizophrenia NICE guideline</u> or the <u>Bipolar disorder NICE guideline</u>

54

8. Optimise the collection and use of data to evaluate the effectiveness of weight management approaches and measure outcomes	 Improve data sharing across primary, community and secondary care to enable better monitoring of physical health in people with mental health conditions. Monitor use of obesogenic psychotropic medication at a population level. Determine what data need to be collected to evaluate the implementation and coverage of healthy weight management support. Evaluate and determine how to disseminate good practice. Ensure that the following are measured: Weight and related metrics, for example waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio Behaviour changes associated with weight loss Longer-term outcomes, such as changes in BMI over time, risk factors for cardiometabolic diseases.
---	---



References

References

1.Public Health Wales Observatory. Obesity in Wales [Internet]. [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/observatory/data-and-analysis/publication-documents/obesity-2019/obesity-in-wales-report-2018-pdf-english/

2. BHF. BHF CVD Statistics Wales Factsheet [Internet]. British Heart Foundation Cymru; [cited 2024 Oct 23]. Available from: https://www.bhf.org.uk/-/media/files/for-professionals/research/heart-statistics/bhf-cvd-statistics-wales-factsheet.pdf

3. Baker C. Obesity statistics [Internet]. House of Commons Library; 2023 Jan [cited 2024 Oct 9]. Available from:

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN03336/SN03336.pdf

4. Afzal M, Siddiqi N, Ahmad B, Afsheen N, Aslam F, Ali A, et al. Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity in People With Severe Mental Illness: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Endocrinol [Internet]. 2021 Nov 25 [cited 2024 May 21];12. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/endocrinology/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021.769309/full

5. WHO. Obesity and overweight [Internet]. [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight

6. Luppino FS, de Wit LM, Bouvy PF, Stijnen T, Cuijpers P, Penninx BWJH, et al. Overweight, Obesity, and Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Longitudinal Studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2010 Mar 1;67(3):220–9.

7. Teh WL, Cetty L, Jeyagurunathan A, Devi F, Roystonn K, Tang C, et al. Comorbid physical illnesses in adult outpatients with psychotic disorders: risk factors, psychological functioning, and quality of life outcomes. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2021 Sep;56(9):1633–43.

8. Robson D, Gray R. Serious mental illness and physical health problems: A discussion paper. Int J Nurs Stud. 2007 Mar;44(3):457–66.

9. The mental and physical health platform. Bridging the gap between mental and physical health [Internet]. [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_determinants/life_style/mental/docs/mh_charter_en.pdf

10. John A, McGregor J, Jones I, Lee SC, Walters JTR, Owen MJ, et al. Premature mortality among people with severe mental illness — New evidence from linked primary care data. Schizophr Res. 2018 Sep 1;199:154–62.

11. Read JR, Sharpe L, Modini M, Dear BF. Multimorbidity and depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2017 Oct 15;221:36–46.

12. Erlangsen A, Andersen PK, Toender A, Laursen TM, Nordentoft M, Canudas-Romo V. Causespecific life-years lost in people with mental disorders: a nationwide, register-based cohort study. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017 Dec;4(12):937–45.



13. Laursen TM, Munk-Olsen T, Vestergaard M. Life expectancy and cardiovascular mortality in persons with schizophrenia. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2012 Mar;25(2):83.

14. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and management. NICE guidelines [Internet]. NICE; 2016 [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/NG56/

15. Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017 Apr;4(4):295–301.

16. Das-Munshi J, Chang CK, Dregan A, Hatch SL, Morgan C, Thornicroft G, et al. How do ethnicity and deprivation impact on life expectancy at birth in people with serious mental illness? Observational study in the UK. Psychol Med. 2021 Nov;51(15):2581–9.

17. Office for Health Improvement & Disparities. GOV.UK. [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Premature mortality in adults with severe mental illness (SMI). Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness-smi

18. Olfson M, Gerhard T, Huang C, Crystal S, Stroup TS. Premature Mortality Among Adults With Schizophrenia in the United States. JAMA Psychiatry. 2015 Dec 1;72(12):1172.

19. Murray CJL, Aravkin AY, Zheng P, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi-Kangevari M, et al. Global burden of 87 risk factors in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet. 2020 Oct;396(10258):1223–49.

20. Mannino DM, Thorn D, Swensen A, Holguin F. Prevalence and outcomes of diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular disease in COPD. Eur Respir J. 2008 May 14;32(4):962–9.

21. Poulain M, Doucet M, Drapeau V, Fournier G, Tremblay A, Poirier P, et al. Metabolic and inflammatory profile in obese patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Chron Respir Dis. 2008 Feb;5(1):35–41.

22. Williams R, Aithal G, Alexander GJ, Allison M, Armstrong I, Aspinall R, et al. Unacceptable failures: the final report of the Lancet Commission into liver disease in the UK. Lancet Lond Engl. 2020 Jan 18;395(10219):226–39.

23. Braude MR, Phan T, Dev A, Sievert W. Determinants of Hepatitis C Virus Prevalence in People With Serious Mental Illness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Psychiatry. 2021 Dec 14;83(1):21r14079.

24. NICE [Internet]. NICE; [cited 2024 Aug 29]. The scarred liver project: a new diagnostic pathway to detect chronic liver disease across primary and secondary care. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/sharedlearning/the-scarred-liver-project



25. Hashim A, Bremner S, Grove JI, Astbury S, Mengozzi M, O'Sullivan M, et al. Chronic liver disease in homeless individuals and performance of non-invasive liver fibrosis and injury markers: VALID study. Liver Int Off J Int Assoc Study Liver. 2022 Mar;42(3):628–39.

26. Severe Mental Illness | Fingertips | Department of Health and Social Care [Internet]. [cited 2024 Aug 29]. Available from: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/severe-mental-illness

27. Public Health England. Severe mental illness (SMI) and physical health inequalities: briefing [Internet]. Public Health England; 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-mental-illness-smi-physical-healthinequalities/severe-mental-illness-and-physical-health-inequalities-briefing

28. Bays HE, Toth PP, Kris-Etherton PM, Abate N, Aronne LJ, Brown WV, et al. Obesity, adiposity, and dyslipidemia: A consensus statement from the National Lipid Association. J Clin Lipidol. 2013 Jul;7(4):304–83.

29. Chait A, Den Hartigh LJ. Adipose Tissue Distribution, Inflammation and Its Metabolic Consequences, Including Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2020 Feb 25;7:22.

30. Zatterale F, Longo M, Naderi J, Raciti GA, Desiderio A, Miele C, et al. Chronic Adipose Tissue Inflammation Linking Obesity to Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes. Front Physiol. 2020 Jan 29;10:1607.

31. Sovetkina A, Nadir R, Fung JNM, Nadjarpour A, Beddoe B. The Physiological Role of Ghrelin in the Regulation of Energy and Glucose Homeostasis. Cureus. 2020 May 3;12(5):e7941.

32. Picó C, Palou M, Pomar CA, Rodríguez AM, Palou A. Leptin as a key regulator of the adipose organ. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2022 Feb;23(1):13–30.

33. Akil L, Ahmad HA. Relationships between Obesity and Cardiovascular Diseases in Four Southern States and Colorado. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2011 Nov;22(4A):61–72.

34. Boyd CM, Fortin M. Future of Multimorbidity Research: How Should Understanding of Multimorbidity Inform Health System Design? Public Health Rev. 2010 Dec;32(2):451–74.

35. Skou ST, Mair FS, Fortin M, Guthrie B, Nunes BP, Miranda JJ, et al. Multimorbidity. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2022 Jul 14;8(1):48.

36. Albanese AM, Bartz-Overman C, Parikh, Md T, Thielke SM. Associations Between Activities of Daily Living Independence and Mental Health Status Among Medicare Managed Care Patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2020 Jun;68(6):1301–6.



37. Caracciolo B, Gatz M, Xu W, Marengoni A, Pedersen NL, Fratiglioni L. Relationship of Subjective Cognitive Impairment and Cognitive Impairment No Dementia to Chronic Disease and Multimorbidity in a Nation-Wide Twin Study. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013 Jun 18;36(2):275–84.

38. Suls J, Green PA, Boyd CM. Multimorbidity: Implications and directions for health psychology and behavioral medicine. Health Psychol. 2019 Sep;38(9):772–82.

39. Furman D, Campisi J, Verdin E, Carrera-Bastos P, Targ S, Franceschi C, et al. Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. Nat Med. 2019 Dec;25(12):1822–32.

40. Oreški I, Jakovljević M, Aukst-Margetić B, Orlić ZC, Vuksan-Ćusa B. Comorbidity and multimorbidity in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: similarities and differencies. Psychiatr Danub. 2012 Mar;24(1):80–5.

41. Jones DR, Macias C, Barreira PJ, Fisher WH, Hargreaves WA, Harding CM. Prevalence, Severity, and Co-occurrence of Chronic Physical Health Problems of Persons With Serious Mental Illness. Psychiatr Serv. 2004 Nov;55(11):1250–7.

42. Basu R, Brar JS, Roy Chengappa K, John V, Parepally H, Gershon S, et al. The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in patients with schizoaffective disorder – bipolar subtype. Bipolar Disord. 2004 Aug;6(4):314–8.

43. De Hert M, Correll CU, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Cohen D, Asai I, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. I. Prevalence, impact of medications and disparities in health care. World Psychiatry. 2011;10(1):52–77.

44. Braude MR, Con D, Lubel J, Bidwai A, Nguyen HT, Sharmamiglani S, et al. Liver disease prevalence and severity in people with serious mental illness: a cross-sectional analysis using non-invasive diagnostic tools. Hepatol Int. 2021 Jun;15(3):812–20.

45. Hare DL, Toukhsati SR, Johansson P, Jaarsma T. Depression and cardiovascular disease: a clinical review. Eur Heart J. 2014 Jun 1;35(21):1365–72.

46. Khaledi M, Haghighatdoost F, Feizi A, Aminorroaya A. The prevalence of comorbid depression in patients with type 2 diabetes: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis on huge number of observational studies. Acta Diabetol. 2019 Jun;56(6):631–50.

47. Youssef NA, Abdelmalek MF, Binks M, Guy CD, Omenetti A, Smith AD, et al. Associations of depression, anxiety and antidepressants with histological severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Liver Int. 2013 Aug;33(7):1062–70.

48. Long-term conditions and mental health: The cost of co-morbidities [Internet]. The Kings Fund; 2012 [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://assets.kingsfund.org.uk/f/256914/x/a7a77f9f6b/long_term_conditions_and_mental_heal th_february_2012.pdf



49. Maher RL, Hanlon J, Hajjar ER. Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2014 Jan;13(1):57–65.

50. Jo C. Cost-of-illness studies: concepts, scopes, and methods. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2014;20(4):327.

51. Dobbds R, Sawers C, Thompson F, Manyka J, Woetzel J, Child P, et al. Overcoming obesity: An initial economic analysis [Internet]. McKinsey Global Institute; [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from:

https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/economic%20studies%2 0temp/our%20insights/how%20the%20world%20could%20better%20fight%20obesity/mgi_ov ercoming_obesity_full_report.pdf

52. Greenberg D, Mohamed Ibrahim MIB, Boncz I. What Are the Challenges in Conducting Cost-of-Illness Studies? Value Health Reg Issues. 2014 Sep;4:115–6.

53. Nagi MA, Ahmed H, Rezq MAA, Sangroongruangsri S, Chaikledkaew U, Almalki Z, et al. Economic costs of obesity: a systematic review. Int J Obes. 2024 Jan;48(1):33–43.

54. OECD. The Heavy Burden of Obesity: The Economics of Prevention [Internet]. OECD; 2019 [cited 2024 Aug 14]. (OECD Health Policy Studies). Available from: https://www.oecdilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/the-heavy-burden-of-obesity_67450d67-en

55. Phillips CJ, Harper C, Rance J, Farr A. Assessing the costs to the NHS associated with alcohol and obesity in Wales.

56. The case for action for obesity in Wales [Internet]. Public Health Wales Observatory; [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/overweight-and-obesity/the-case-for-action-on-obesity-in-wales/

57. McDaid D, Park AL. The economic case for investing in the prevention of mental health conditions in the UK.

58. Pedroso-Chaparro MDS, Cabrera I, Vara-García C, Márquez-González M, Losada-Baltar A. Physical limitations and loneliness: The role of guilt related to self-perception as a burden. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2023 Mar;71(3):903–8.

59. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Baker M, Harris T, Stephenson D. Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic Review. Perspect Psychol Sci. 2015 Mar;10(2):227–37.

60. Uchino BN. Social Support and Health: A Review of Physiological Processes Potentially Underlying Links to Disease Outcomes. J Behav Med. 2006 Aug;29(4):377–87.

61. Schulz R, Sherwood PR. Physical and Mental Health Effects of Family Caregiving. AJN Am J Nurs. 2008 Sep;108(9):23–7.



62. Gérain P, Zech E. Informal Caregiver Burnout? Development of a Theoretical Framework to Understand the Impact of Caregiving. Front Psychol. 2019 Jul 31;10:1748.

63. Cham CQ, Ibrahim N, Siau CS, Kalaman CR, Ho MC, Yahya AN, et al. Caregiver Burden among Caregivers of Patients with Mental Illness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Healthcare. 2022 Nov 30;10(12):2423.

64. Committee on Family Caregiving for Older Adults, Board on Health Care Services, Health and Medicine Division, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Families Caring for an Aging America [Internet]. Schulz R, Eden J, editors. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press; 2016 [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/23606

65. Brewis AA. Stigma and the perpetuation of obesity. Soc Sci Med. 2014 Oct;118:152-8.

66. Moore CH, Oliver TL, Randolph J, Dowdell EB. Interventions for reducing weight bias in healthcare providers: An interprofessional systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Obes. 2022 Dec;12(6):e12545.

67. Charlesworth TES, Banaji MR. Patterns of Implicit and Explicit Attitudes: I. Long-Term Change and Stability From 2007 to 2016. Psychol Sci. 2019 Feb;30(2):174–92.

68. University of Sheffield. Working together to address obesity in adult mental health secure units A systematic review of the evidence and a summary of the implications for practice [Internet]. Public Health England; [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7f1b63ed915d74e62286c9/obesity_in_mental_ health_secure_units.pdf

69. UK Health Security Agency. Obesity in secure mental health units: A call to action [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2024 Aug 14]. Available from: https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2017/02/15/obesity-in-secure-mental-health-units-a-call-to-action/

70. Sfera A, Osorio C, Diaz EL, Maguire G, Cummings M. The Other Obesity Epidemic—Of Drugs and Bugs. Front Endocrinol. 2020 Jul 31;11:488.

71. Kahn RS, Fleischhacker WW, Boter H, Davidson M, Vergouwe Y, Keet IP, et al. Effectiveness of antipsychotic drugs in first-episode schizophrenia and schizophreniform disorder: an open randomised clinical trial. The Lancet. 2008 Mar;371(9618):1085–97.

72. Citrome L, Holt RIG, Walker DJ, Hoffmann VP. Weight Gain and Changes in Metabolic Variables following Olanzapine Treatment in Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder: Clin Drug Investig. 2011 Jul;31(7):455–82.

73. Allison DB, Mentore JL, Heo M, Chandler LP, Cappelleri JC, Infante MC, et al. Antipsychotic-Induced Weight Gain: A Comprehensive Research Synthesis. Am J Psychiatry. 1999 Nov 1;156(11):1686–96. 74. Holt RIG. Association Between Antipsychotic Medication Use and Diabetes. Curr Diab Rep. 2019 Oct;19(10):96.

75. Citrome L. Clozapine for schizophrenia: Life-threatening or life-saving treatment? Current Psychiatry. 2009;8(12):56–64.

76. National Cancer Institute. Weight Gain. In: Definitions [Internet]. Qeios; 2020 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: https://www.qeios.com/read/definition/67858

777. Saunders KH, Igel LI, Shukla AP, Aronne LJ. Drug-induced weight gain: Rethinking our choices. J Fam Pract. 2016 Nov;65(11):780–8.

78. Zimmermann U, Kraus T, Himmerich H, Schuld A, Pollmächer T. Epidemiology, implications and mechanisms underlying drug-induced weight gain in psychiatric patients. J Psychiatr Res. 2003 May;37(3):193–220.

79. MacPhee M, Howe J, Habib H, Piwowarczyk E, Wong G, Ahern A, et al. REalist Synthesis Of non-pharmacologicaL interVEntions for antipsychotic-induced weight gain (RESOLVE) in people living with severe mental illness.

80. Howe J, MacPhee M, Duddy C, Habib H, Wong G, Jacklin S, et al. A realist review of medication optimisation of community dwelling service users with serious mental illness. BMJ Qual Saf [Internet]. 2023 Dec 6 [cited 2024 Nov 19]; Available from: https://qualitysafety.bmj.com/content/early/2023/12/05/bmjqs-2023-016615

81. Mizock L. The double stigma of obesity and serious mental illnesses: Promoting health and recovery. Psychiatr Rehabil J. 2012 Dec;35(6):466–9.

82. Emmer C, Bosnjak M, Mata J. The association between weight stigma and mental health: A meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2020 Jan;21(1):e12935.

83. Drewnowski A. Food insecurity has economic root causes. Nat Food. 2022 Aug 8;3(8):555-6.

84. Affenito SG, Franko DL, Striegel-Moore RH, Thompson D. Behavioral Determinants of Obesity: Research Findings and Policy Implications. J Obes. 2012;2012:1–4.

85. Dregan A, McNeill A, Gaughran F, Jones PB, Bazley A, Cross S, et al. Potential gains in life expectancy from reducing amenable mortality among people diagnosed with serious mental illness in the United Kingdom. Guloksuz S, editor. PLOS ONE. 2020 Mar 27;15(3):e0230674.

86. Cockerham WC. Health Lifestyle Theory and the Convergence of Agency and Structure. J Health Soc Behav. 2005 Mar;46(1):51–67.

87. Teasdale SB, Müller-Stierlin AS, Ruusunen A, Eaton M, Marx W, Firth J. Prevalence of food insecurity in people with major depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia and related psychoses: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2023 Aug 7;63(20):4485–502.



88. Morgan C, Burns T, Fitzpatrick R, Pinfold V, Priebe S. Social exclusion and mental health: Conceptual and methodological review. Br J Psychiatry. 2007 Dec;191(6):477–83.

89. Vancampfort D, Firth J, Schuch FB, Rosenbaum S, Mugisha J, Hallgren M, et al. Sedentary behavior and physical activity levels in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. World Psychiatry. 2017 Oct;16(3):308–15.

90. Khosravi M. Biopsychosocial factors associated with disordered eating behaviors in schizophrenia. Ann Gen Psychiatry. 2020 Dec;19(1):67.

91. Sankaranarayanan A, Johnson K, Mammen SJ, Wilding HE, Vasani D, Murali V, et al. Disordered Eating among People with Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders: A Systematic Review. Nutrients. 2021 Oct 27;13(11):3820.

92. Kouidrat Y, Amad A, Lalau JD, Loas G. Eating Disorders in Schizophrenia: Implications for Research and Management. Schizophr Res Treat. 2014;2014:1–7.

93. Michael GA, Dorey JM, Rey R, D'Amato T, Fabre D, Brunet S, et al. Attention in schizophrenia: Impaired inhibitory control, faulty attentional resources, or both? Psychiatry Res. 2020 Aug;290:113164.

94. Benton D, Young HA. A meta-analysis of the relationship between brain dopamine receptors and obesity: a matter of changes in behavior rather than food addiction? Int J Obes. 2016 Mar;40(S1):S12–21.

95. Martland R, Gaughran F, Stubbs B, Onwumere J. Perspectives on implementing HIIT interventions for service users in inpatient mental health settings: A qualitative study investigating patient, carer and staff attitudes. J Affect Disord. 2021 Mar;283:198–206.

96. Teasdale SB, Ward PB, Samaras K, Firth J, Stubbs B, Tripodi E, et al. Dietary intake of people with severe mental illness: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry. 2019 May;214(5):251–9.

97. Barre LK, Ferron JC, Davis KE, Whitley R. Healthy eating in persons with serious mental illnesses: Understanding and barriers. Psychiatr Rehabil J. 2011;34(4):304–10.

98. Byrne P. Premature mortality of people with severe mental illness: a renewed focus for a new era. Ir J Psychol Med. 2023 Mar;40(1):74–83.

99. Simmonds M, Burch J, Llewellyn A, Griffiths C, Yang H, Owen C, et al. The use of measures of obesity in childhood for predicting obesity and the development of obesity-related diseases in adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Technol Assess. 2015 Jun;19(43):1–336.

100. Simmonds M, Llewellyn A, Owen CG, Woolacott N. Predicting adult obesity from childhood obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2016 Feb;17(2):95–107.



101. Silventoinen K, Jelenkovic A, Sund R, Yokoyama Y, Hur YM, Cozen W, et al. Differences in genetic and environmental variation in adult BMI by sex, age, time period, and region: an individual-based pooled analysis of 40 twin cohorts. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017 Aug;106(2):457–66.

102. Kivimäki M, Lawlor DA, Smith GD, Elovainio M, Jokela M, Keltikangas-Järvinen L, et al. Substantial intergenerational increases in body mass index are not explained by the fetal overnutrition hypothesis: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Nov;86(5):1509–14.

103. Sahoo K, Sahoo B, Choudhury A, Sofi N, Kumar R, Bhadoria A. Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. J Fam Med Prim Care. 2015;4(2):187.

104. Shaban Mohamed MA, AbouKhatwa MM, Saifullah AA, Hareez Syahmi M, Mosaad M, Elrggal ME, et al. Risk Factors, Clinical Consequences, Prevention, and Treatment of Childhood Obesity. Children. 2022 Dec 16;9(12):1975.

105. Griffiths LJ, Parsons TJ, Hill AJ. Self-esteem and quality of life in obese children and adolescents: A systematic review. Int J Pediatr Obes. 2010 Aug;5(4):282–304.

106. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Sethi D, Butchart A, Mikton C, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health. 2017 Aug;2(8):e356–66.

107. Bellis MA, Ashton K, Hughes K, Ford K, Bishop J, Shantini Paranjothy. Adverse Childhood Experiences and their impact on health-harming behaviours in the Welsh adult population [Internet]. Public Health Wales NHS Trust; 2016 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: http://rgdoi.net/10.13140/RG.2.1.4719.1122

108. De Rubeis V, Gonzalez A, De Groh M, Jiang Y, Erbas Oz U, Tarride JE, et al. Obesity and adverse childhood experiences in relation to stress during the COVID-19 pandemic: an analysis of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2023 Jan 23 [cited 2024 Aug 15]; Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41366-023-01258-9

109. Davies JL. The Conversation. 2023 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. How childhood trauma can lead to obesity in people with serious mental illness. Available from: http://theconversation.com/how-childhood-trauma-can-lead-to-obesity-in-people-with-serious-mental-illness-209636

110. Daníelsdóttir HB, Aspelund T, Shen Q, Halldorsdottir T, Jakobsdóttir J, Song H, et al. Adverse Childhood Experiences and Adult Mental Health Outcomes. JAMA Psychiatry. 2024 Jun 1;81(6):586.

 111. Bringing together physical and mental health: A new frontier for integrated care [Internet].
 The Kings Fund; 2016 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: https://assets.kingsfund.org.uk/f/256914/x/5fa0a562d8/bringing_together_physical_and_ment al_health_march_2016.pdf





112. Lester H, Tait L, England E, Tritter J. Patient involvement in primary care mental health: a focus group study. Br J Gen Pract J R Coll Gen Pract. 2006 Jun;56(527):415–22.

113. Clement S, Schauman O, Graham T, Maggioni F, Evans-Lacko S, Bezborodovs N, et al. What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. Psychol Med. 2015 Jan;45(1):11–27.

114. Aschbrenner KA, Mueser KT, Bartels SJ, Pratt SI. Perceived social support for diet and exercise among persons with serious mental illness enrolled in a healthy lifestyle intervention. Psychiatr Rehabil J. 2013 Jun;36(2):65–71.

115. De Hert M, Cohen D, Bobes J, Cetkovich-Bakmas M, Leucht S, Ndetei DM, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. II. Barriers to care, monitoring and treatment guidelines, plus recommendations at the system and individual level. World Psychiatry. 2011 Jun;10(2):138–51.

116. Bennett LL, Cohen AN, Young AS. Factors Associated With Weight Intervention Participation Among People With Serious Mental Illness. J Nerv Ment Dis. 2018 Nov;206(11):896–9.

117. Aschbrenner KA, Mueser KT, Naslund JA, Gorin AA, Kinney A, Daniels L, et al. Feasibility Study of Increasing Social Support to Enhance a Healthy Lifestyle Intervention for Individuals with Serious Mental Illness. J Soc Soc Work Res. 2016 Jun 1;7(2):289–313.

118. Aschbrenner K, Carpenter-Song E, Mueser K, Kinney A, Pratt S, Bartels S. A Qualitative Study of Social Facilitators and Barriers to Health Behavior Change Among Persons with Serious Mental Illness. Community Ment Health J. 2013 Apr;49(2):207–12.

119. Walker RE, Keane CR, Burke JG. Disparities and access to healthy food in the United States: A review of food deserts literature. Health Place. 2010 Sep;16(5):876–84.

120. Rawal LB, Smith BJ, Quach H, Renzaho AMN. Physical Activity among Adults with Low Socioeconomic Status Living in Industrialized Countries: A Meta-Ethnographic Approach to Understanding Socioecological Complexities. J Environ Public Health. 2020 Apr 1;2020:1–13.

121. Houses of Parliament. Barriers to Healthy Food [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/POST-PN-0522/POST-PN-0522.pdf

122. Maani N, Petticrew M, Galea S, editors. The Commercial Determinants of Health [Internet]. 1st ed. Oxford University PressNew York; 2023 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/book/44473

123. Maani N, Petticrew M, Galea S, editors. Chapter 14: Sugar-Sweetened Beverages. In: The Commercial Determinants of Health [Internet]. 1st ed. Oxford University PressNew York; 2023 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/book/44473



124. Itria A, Borges SS, Rinaldi AEM, Nucci LB, Enes CC. Taxing sugar-sweetened beverages as a policy to reduce overweight and obesity in countries of different income classifications: a systematic review. Public Health Nutr. 2021 Nov;24(16):5550–60.

125. Basto-Abreu A, Barrientos-Gutiérrez T, Vidaña-Pérez D, Colchero MA, Hernández-F. M, Hernández-Ávila M, et al. Cost-Effectiveness Of The Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Excise Tax In Mexico. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019 Nov 1;38(11):1824–31.

126. Nakamura R, Mirelman AJ, Cuadrado C, Silva-Illanes N, Dunstan J, Suhrcke M. Evaluating the 2014 sugar-sweetened beverage tax in Chile: An observational study in urban areas. Langenberg C, editor. PLOS Med. 2018 Jul 3;15(7):e1002596.

127. Rogers NT, Cummins S, Jones CP, Mytton O, Rayner M, Rutter H, et al. Estimated changes in free sugar consumption one year after the UK soft drinks industry levy came into force: controlled interrupted time series analysis of the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (2011– 2019). J Epidemiol Community Health. 2024 Sep;78(9):578–84.

128. Rogers NT, Cummins S, Forde H, Jones CP, Mytton O, Rutter H, et al. Associations between trajectories of obesity prevalence in English primary school children and the UK soft drinks industry levy: An interrupted time series analysis of surveillance data. Popkin BM, editor. PLOS Med. 2023 Jan 26;20(1):e1004160.

129. Shelley P. Report of the Independent Review of NHS Hospital Food.

130. Simpson N, Bartley A, Davies A, Perman S, Rodger AJ. Getting the balance right—tackling the obesogenic environment by reducing unhealthy options in a hospital shop without affecting profit. J Public Health. 2018 Dec 1;40(4):e545–51.

131. Oakley C, Mason F, Delmage E, Exworthy T. A right to be fat? A survey of weight management in medium secure units. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol. 2013 Apr;24(2):205–14.

132. Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales. All Wales Weight Management Pathway 2021. Welsh Government; 2021.

133. Healthy Weight: Healthy Wales. Our long term strategy to prevent and reduce obesity in Wales [Internet]. Welsh Government; [cited 2024 Aug 16]. Available from: https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/healthy-weight-healthy-wales_0.pdf

134. NHS England. Improving Physical Health for People with Severe Mental Illness (SMI): Introduction to the CQUIN [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2024 Aug 6]. Available from: https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/ccqi/national-clinicalaudits/ncap-library/improving-physical-health-in-smi---introductory-slides-cquin-1912.pdf? sfvrsn=93649804_4



135. Primary Care Obesity Prevention Action Plan (2022-2024) [Internet]. Public Health Wales; 2022 [cited 2024 Aug 15]. Available from: https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/primary-care-division/primary-care-obesity-prevention/rescources/primary-care-obesity-prevention-action-plan-2022-2024/

136. NHS England. Improving the physical health of people living with severe mental illness. Guidance for integrated care systems [Internet]. 2024 Jan [cited 2024 Jul 23]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/improving-the-physical-health-of-people-living-withsevere-mental-illness/

137. Overview | Obesity prevention | Guidance | NICE [Internet]. NICE; 2006 [cited 2024 Jul 23]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg43

138. NICE. Physical activity: brief advice for adults in primary care [Internet]. 2013 May. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph44/resources/physical-activity-brief-advice-for-adults-in-primary-care-pdf-1996357939909

139. Public Health England. Managing a healthy weight in adult secure services - practice guidance [Internet]. 2021 Feb [cited 2024 Oct 9]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/B0121_Managing-a-healthy-weight-Adult-Secure-Services-practice-guidance-090221.pdf

140. Taylor D. Maudsley Prescribing Guidelines [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2024 Nov 7]. Available from: https://www.maudsley-prescribing-guidelines.co.uk/

141. Dayabandara M, Hanwella R, Ratnatunga S, Seneviratne S, Suraweera C, de Silva VA. Antipsychotic-associated weight gain: management strategies and impact on treatment adherence. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2017 Aug 22;13:2231–41.

142. Pillinger T, Howes OD, Correll CU, Leucht S, Huhn M, Schneider-Thoma J, et al. Antidepressant and antipsychotic side-effects and personalised prescribing: a systematic review and digital tool development. Lancet Psychiatry. 2023 Nov;10(11):860–76.

143. Woodall AA, Abuzour AS, Wilson SA, Mair FS, Buchan I, Sheard SB, et al. Management of antipsychotics in primary care: Insights from healthcare professionals and policy makers in the United Kingdom. PLOS ONE. 2024 Mar 1;19(3):e0294974.

144. Maayan L, Correll CU. Management of Antipsychotic-Related Weight Gain. Expert Rev Neurother. 2010 Jul;10(7):1175–200.

145. Lee K, Abraham S, Cleaver R. A systematic review of licensed weight-loss medications in treating antipsychotic-induced weight gain and obesity in schizophrenia and psychosis. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2022;78:58–67.

146. Croatto G, Vancampfort D, Miola A, Olivola M, Fiedorowicz JG, Firth J, et al. The impact of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions on physical health outcomes in people with mood disorders across the lifespan: An umbrella review of the evidence from randomised controlled trials. Mol Psychiatry. 2023 Jan;28(1):369–90.

147. Morgan-Bathke M, Baxter SD, Halliday TM, Lynch A, Malik N, Raynor HA, et al. Weight Management Interventions Provided by a Dietitian for Adults with Overweight or Obesity: An Evidence Analysis Center Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2023 Nov;123(11):1621-1661.e25.

148. Jensen MT, Nielsen SS, Jessen-Winge C, Madsen CMT, Thilsing T, Larrabee Sønderlund A, et al. The effectiveness of social-support-based weight-loss interventions—a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Obes. 2024 May;48(5):599–611.

149. Summers R, Lea J, East L. An exploration of extreme obesity and weight loss management for adults in rural, remote, and regional areas: a systematic review. Contemp Nurse. 2024 Jan 2;60(1):54–66.

150. Myers-Ingram R, Sampford J, Milton-Cole R, Jones GD. Effectiveness of eHealth weight management interventions in overweight and obese adults from low socioeconomic groups: a systematic review. Syst Rev. 2023 Mar 30;12(1):59.

151. Lee C, Piernas C, Stewart C, Michalopoulou M, Hajzadeh A, Edwards R, et al. Identifying effective characteristics of behavioral weight management interventions for people with serious mental illness: A systematic review with a qualitative comparative analysis. Obes Rev. 2022 Jan;23(1):e13355.

152. Day M, Johnson. Working together to address obesity in adult mental health secure units: a systematic review of teh evidence and a summary of the implications for practice [Internet]. Public Health England; [cited 2024 Jul 31]. Available from: https://assots.publiching.son/ico.gov.uk/media/5a7flb63ad915d7/a62286c9/abosity.in.montal

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7f1b63ed915d74e62286c9/obesity_in_mental_ health_secure_units.pdf

153. Daumit GL, Dickerson FB, Wang NY, Dalcin A, Jerome GJ, Anderson CAM, et al. A Behavioral Weight-Loss Intervention in Persons with Serious Mental Illness. N Engl J Med. 2013 Apr 25;368(17):1594–602.

154. Casagrande SS, Jerome GJ, Dalcin AT, Dickerson FB, Anderson CA, Appel LJ, et al. Randomized trial of achieving healthy lifestyles in psychiatric rehabilitation: the ACHIEVE trial. BMC Psychiatry. 2010 Dec;10(1):108.

155. Nash M. Physical Health and Well-Being in Mental Health Nursing: Clinical Skills for Practice. 2nd ed. New York: Open University Press; 2014.

156. Goff A, Lee Y, Tham K. Weight bias and stigma in healthcare professionals: a narrative review with a Singapore lens. Singapore Med J. 2023;64(3):155.



157. Schwartz MB, Chambliss HO, Brownell KD, Blair SN, Billington C. Weight Bias among Health Professionals Specializing in Obesity. Obes Res. 2003 Sep;11(9):1033–9.

158. Alberga AS, Edache IY, Forhan M, Russell-Mayhew S. Weight bias and health care utilization: a scoping review. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2019;20:e116.

159. Puhl RM, Phelan SM, Nadglowski J, Kyle TK. Overcoming Weight Bias in the Management of Patients With Diabetes and Obesity. Clin Diabetes. 2016 Jan 1;34(1):44–50.

160. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Whole-person care: from rhetoric to reality. Achieving parity between mental and physical health.

161. McGinty EE, Gudzune KA, Dalcin A, Jerome GJ, Dickerson F, Gennusa J, et al. Bringing an Effective Behavioral Weight Loss Intervention for People With Serious Mental Illness to Scale. Front Psychiatry. 2018 Nov 20;9:604.

162. NICE. Obesity: How should I confirm if a person is overweight or obese? [Internet]. [cited 2024 Aug 29]. Available from: https://cks.nice.org.uk/topics/obesity/diagnosis/identification-classification/

163. Wang PS, Demler O, Kessler RC. Adequacy of Treatment for Serious Mental Illness in the United States. Am J Public Health. 2002 Jan;92(1):92–8.

164. Norfolk & Waveney Integrated Care System (ICS [Internet]. [cited 2024 Aug 29]. Severe Mental IIIness (SMI). Available from: https://improvinglivesnw.org.uk/severe-mental-iIIness/

